78669/1

78669/1



PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	Mrs C Irwin

	Scheme
	Signature Software Ltd Executive Pension Scheme

	Respondent
	Mr I McKeever


Subject

Mrs Irwin has complained that, in his role as Scheme trustee, Mr McKeever has behaved unreasonably, been obstructive and charged excessive fees.

The Pensions Ombudsman’s determination and short reasons

The complaint should be upheld against Mr McKeever because in some respects his actions were not in keeping with his role as a professional trustee and certain of his fees were not properly charged to the Scheme.
DETAILED DETERMINATION

Material Facts

The Scheme and the Parties to the Complaint

1. At the relevant time the Scheme was governed by a Trust Deed dated 21 July 1994, between Signature Software Limited and Derek John May (the sole member), Ian McKeever and Eagle Place Trustees Limited. 

2. Mr May had set up Signature Software Limited. He was also the majority shareholder and a director of Bishopstrade Limited. He died in November 2007, having lived in South Africa for some time beforehand.
3. Mrs Irwin was Company Secretary and a director of Bishopstrade Limited. I understand that she and Mr May lived together as a couple in South Africa. She is the sole executrix of Mr May’s estate. She is also the person that the present trustees have decided should receive the benefit payable on Mr May’s death, and it is in that capacity that she has made her complaint.

4. The Scheme is a “small self-administered scheme”. Previously, this type of scheme required a “pensioneer trustee”, being person accepted as an independent specialist for tax approval purposes. This role was initially fulfilled by Eagle Place Trustees Limited, but was later undertaken by Mr McKeever, who is an actuary. The Scheme documents imposed certain additional responsibilities on the pensioneer trustee, but otherwise did not distinguish between the duties of trustees.
The Background to the Complaint

5. The events complained of occurred after the death of Mr May. However, to put them in context it will be helpful to set out the history of Mr McKeever’s dealings with the Scheme. What follows is Mr McKeever’s own description of the background, taken directly from a submission to my office attached to a letter of 9 June 2010.
“The Background & History
How I became involved

I was introduced to Mr May in 1993 by his accountants, King & Co. He was looking for a new pensioneer trustee for his scheme. Unfortunately I was not then authorised as a pensioneer trustee. However, I was seeking to become an authorised pensioneer trustee.

At that time authorisation as a pensioneer trustee was dependent on having sufficient correspondence with the Inland Revenue on relevant matters with a sufficient number of schemes. This created a Catch 22 situation for someone like me, as I was unlikely to have sufficient such correspondence until I was a pensioneer trustee and I would not become a pensioneer trustee until I had.

The solution was for Nabarro Nathanson's trust Company (Eagle Place Trustees) to be the pensioneer trustee and for me also to be a trustee and carry out the relevant correspondence with the Inland Revenue. Eagle Place Trustees would then retire once I had my authorisation.

Clearly given this situation I had to make sure that this rather unwieldy arrangement did not involve any extra cost to the client. However, I was the actuary to the scheme and there might have been other work. Initially it was not entirely clear what was required and hence the client agreement [This is a reference to the imprecision of the agreement – see paragraph 6 and following]. My client was, of course the trustees of the scheme, and Mr May was also a trustee and he was fully involved in and agreed to the payments of my fees.

Once I achieved the status of an approved pensioneer trustee Eagle Place Trustees retired.

At this time I felt some degree of moral obligation to Mr May for helping me achieve pensioneer trustee status. Unfortunately this meant that later things got rather out of hand.

The Corporate Structure

When I became involved with Derek May in 1993 the structure of the business was relatively complex. It consisted of Bishopstrade Ltd, which was the holding company and a number of subsidiaries including the main trading company Bishopsgate Marketing Services Ltd and Signature Software Ltd as well as a few shell companies which were totally inactive. Signature Software Ltd still traded to a limited degree, although it was never clear what it did and it had no employees.

There had previously been another subsidiary which had a very profitable business selling Wang Computers, which folded when the IBM computer became the standard. However, while it had been operating, it was very profitable and had left Derek May at least reasonably well off, but probably not positively wealthy.

The business

By this time the main business of the Group was the provision of Freight Forwarding software for companies shipping goods internationally and at some uncertain time this extended to software for revenue authorities collecting taxes on imports and exports.

The core of the software was essentially common for all clients but a considerable amount of customisation was required for each customer. The system would be sold for a substantial sum of the order of £ 100,000 or even hundreds of thousands of pounds for each customer and annual maintenance would bring in future fees of tens of thousands of pounds a year. However, there were only a limited number of potential customers for such a product and the number of actual customers was much smaller still.

The economics of the business were substantially the economics of any software vendors business. It costs Microsoft billions of dollars to develop Windows, but the marginal cost of putting an extra copy on the shelves is probably only five dollars. Given the price they sell it for, once the development costs are met, most of the sale proceeds represent pure profit. Much the same applied to Mr May's business. Although some customisation was required, the substance of his product was maybe a couple of CDs and a few manuals.

Derek May spent most his time abroad selling the software, mainly in Africa. Meanwhile most of the programming and day to day management of the company was carried out from the UK.

Derek May the man

In his role marketing the product Mr May was frequently away for months on end. Post would pile up for that period of time and dealing with correspondence on his return would be a major project. In these circumstances, dividend cheques from the scheme investments would go uncashed for some time and even become lost. This was to become a major problem later on.

His absences and the fact that he was marketing his software all over Africa would make him very difficult to contact. He was also the holder of a full commercial Pilot's licence. He was originally trained by BEA, which subsequently merged with BOAC to form British Airways. This was obviously useful for marketing his product as it gave him better access to the world in which he was trying to sell his product. However, it made him even more difficult to track down.

By July 1999 I understood that Derek May had become non-resident for UK tax purposes and this did not change subsequently. I have no idea what his tax status was in South Africa at that time but his visits to the UK had become even more rare.

Also at around this time I understood that he established a company in South Africa owned directly by him. It was not part of the UK group. Subsequent events were to suggest that this was not quite an accurate description but that is what I understood at the time to be the situation.
The Issues from 2000

Around the year 2000 a number of issues raised their head.
The loan

There were originally two loans, one for £20,000 and one for £40,000, taken from the scheme and repayable at slightly different times. One of my first tasks as trustee was to retrospectively document these existing loans. Both loans were to Signature Software Ltd, although by that time Bishopsgate Marketing Services Ltd was the only company in the group with a substantial business. These loans came up for repayment and it was decided to effectively rollover the loans into a new loan to Bishopsgate Marketing Services Ltd. for £90,000, which represented an increase in the amount of capital being borrowed. At that time the stockmarket was very strong, the equity holdings were doing well and such a loan was within Revenue Limits.

However, the profitability of Bishopsgate Marketing Services was not as good as one might like. On the other hand there was a good client base and a product representing intellectual property of considerable value. I therefore agreed to there being a loan on condition that Bishopstrade Ltd, the holding company, guaranteed the loan.

The loan of £90,000 including a rollover of a previous £20,000 loan was made on 27th April 2000. There was therefore payment made to the Bishopsgate Marketing Services of £70,000 to fund further software development. The loan of £40,000 had already been repaid. The new £90,000 loan was repayable on 31st March 2005.

Interest payments were subsequently erratic, to say the least, and on 20th March 2001 Bishopsgate Marketing Services went into receivership. The loan was the responsibility of Bishopstrade Ltd as guarantor from then on, and that company also became the new Founder of the Scheme (Principal Employer). However servicing the loan continued to be a problem.

One further complication was that although previously I could contact the offices of Bishopstrade Ltd in the UK and talk to someone who had some knowledge of the situation, even if I could not talk to Derek May directly, this was no longer an option.

Subsequently the Inland Revenue became more and more concerned about what they saw as the potential abuse of the facility for SSASs to make loans to the employer and wanted to make sure that they were on arms length terms and were properly serviced.
Tax Returns

Whereas previously the Inland Revenue had not expected most pension schemes to file tax returns this changed from the tax year 1999-2000 onwards.

It was agreed that King & Co, the company accountants, would prepare the tax returns for the scheme. Significant progress was I understood being made but there were a few points to be verified with Derek May. Unfortunately they found Derek May as difficult to contact as I did. However King and Co were one of Bishopsgate Marketing Services major creditors when it went into receivership and so work on the tax returns ceased forthwith.

Subsequently the number of outstanding tax returns grew and the Inland Revenue became ever more insistent about getting them. The scheme's share dividends were sent to Derek May's home address in London as were the scheme's bank statements. I was therefore dependent o[n] Derek May for the information needed to prepare the returns and he was in South Africa or at least somewhere in Africa probably!
Update 69

On 29th August 2000 the Inland Revenue issued Update 69…. This required all investment holdings to be registered in the names of all the trustees or at least that the current pensioneer trustee be one of the registered owners of the holdings.

In fact the shares owned by the pension fund were registered in various ways. Some were registered in the joint names of Derek May and the previous pensioneer trustee before I became involved in the scheme at all. Some were I believe registered in Derek May's name alone but with a designation, some were registered in the name of Signature Software Ltd and some were registered properly in the joint names of myself and Derek May.

This was one of those problems that are relatively easily solved with Derek May's assistance, although it is quite a time consuming process. However, Derek May was flying all round Africa trying to sell his software with little interest in resolving this problem. Some of the share certificates were doubtless in unopened letters at Derek May's address in the UK.
My Fees

According to my records my invoice for the year to 30/04/1998 was paid on 13th July 2000 and my invoice for the year to 30/4/1999 was paid on 31st March 2000. Why they were paid in that order is unclear but delays in paying invoices was a perennial problem.

My invoice for the year to 30th April 2000 including a substantial amount of work involving the old and new loans was to remain outstanding until 2004. This work included discussing the terms of the loan as well as making sure that the previous loans were up to date and repaid on time. The following year there was additional work following the insolvency of the Principal Employer and debtor to the scheme as well as an actuarial valuation.

These fees remained unpaid, as did my subsequent bills.

The Break with Derek May

By October 2003 all these issues had come to a head as far as I was concerned. The scheme was not complying with Update 69, the tax returns were not completed, and the loan was effectively not being serviced. On top of that I was not being paid and the client was always difficult to contact, which wasted a great deal of time.

Getting a response and dealing with a problem takes time. Not dealing with it takes less time in the short term but no progress is made and eventually the work has to be done anyway. In the meantime excuses and explanations have to be given to the Inland Revenue for failing to do the work and that too takes time.

The Inland Revenue was getting more insistent on most of these matters. A particular difficulty was the loan. The fact that little or no interest was being paid and that the trustees had not demanded repayment could lead to the scheme losing its Tax Approval and generate significant tax liabilities. I therefore e-mailed Derek May suggesting that, as trustees, we sue Bishopstrade for immediate repayment of the loan, in order to prevent this. I also demanded that my fees were paid. Derek May's response was that I either write off the outstanding bills and continue as pensioneer trustee or if the bills were to be paid, I was to be replaced.

There had been a fund of goodwill at the beginning of our business relationship and maybe that had meant that I had allowed the fee situation to get out of hand. Recently if I had started to get insistent about the urgent need to sort out Pension scheme matters, Mr May's attitude was very much "Who is the client here?"

If I stayed on these issues would remain unresolved, potentially putting my Pensioneer Trustee status at risk, and the amount of the outstanding fees was substantial. There was no real option. Appointing a new Pensioneer trustee would solve most of my problems with the scheme. The Tax Returns would have to be brought reasonably up to date. Update 69 would have to be complied with, and the new trustee could deal with the loan.

It was agreed that for a fixed fee of £3,000 I would prepare tax returns up to the tax year ending 5th April 2002, on the basis of information to be supplied by Derek. His new accountants Deeks Evans could do the more recent one, as at least the data was still fresh. The other ones were based on data that was already old and incomplete and I had the benefit of having been involved in the scheme from the beginning.

The investments were to be moved into a nominee account with Charles Stanley. This would save considerable paperwork in the future, greatly simplify things, and uncashed dividends would be a thing of the past. This was agreed in February 2004. Our agreement included me continuing to act as Pensioneer trustee until 30th June 2004.

I had initially suggested that my trusteeship should continue until the end of June in order both to give Derek time to find a new pensioneer trustee and to put a limit on my own commitment. Derek's response was that I had no need to worry on that score, as he would be rid of me by the end of March. Relations were not good.

The Tax Returns

I initially completed the first tax return for year ended April 2000 at the end of February 2004 with the rest in March. At the beginning of April they were returned as unacceptable by the Revenue. Not all dividends were accounted for. Some dividends had been lost. For some the cheques were out of date. New cheques had been issued but some companies charged for reissuing cheques and the charges were too high to make it worthwhile claiming the dividends. Not all bank deposits were properly annotated and it was difficult to reconcile them with the dividends.

It was even difficult to find the right tax offices and find the right people to speak to.

Eventually the returns were completed satisfactorily in May 2004. The amount of work was enormous as it involved reconciling bank statements with dividends that had been due five years beforehand, some of which had not been collected. The whole thing was a mess. It took weeks of work rather than days to reach this point. To be fair I suspect Derek had to do even more work than I did, but it was only this bad because he had refused to do it earlier and I was the one in the UK dealing with the Revenue and trying to reconcile the figures.
Registering Shareholdings

The whole issue of transferring shares and reregistering the holdings in fact turned out to be major project all by itself. For months it seemed to snow share certificates and stock transfer forms. Derek had chosen to take some dividends as scrip and so there were even certificates for single shares.
Eventually by November 2004 the transfer was virtually complete. I believed it to be complete.
Final reconciliation could be done when the holdings were transferred to the new pensioneer trustee. It would have to be done then anyway and I was not going to duplicate the work given the time I had already spent on this.
Fees

In accordance with our agreement most of my fees should have been paid immediately but in fact they were not paid until November 2004.

The first letter to me from Fairmount Trustee Services Ltd starting the process of the transfer of responsibilities was dated 2nd November but was not actually received until somewhat later.

By the time I had answered all their questions and the Deed replacing me was prepared it was July 2005. I therefore sent Derek May an invoice for trustee services after June 2003 for £400 plus VAT, which, all in all, did not seem unreasonable for my work after June on matters outside our agreement.

The time taken to carry out all the work needed under our agreement had greatly exceeded what was I had expected mainly because of the quality of the data supplied by Derek. Relations were not good in any event and a fee of £400 plus vat did not seem unreasonable for the work done as pensioneer trustee after the agreed date and outside the terms of our agreement.

He had told me not to do any more work. When I contacted Derek about preparing the actuarial valuation as at September 2003 I was told to do nothing. However one does not have absolute control over other people's actions. I was still responsible for the scheme and had to deal with telephone calls from the Inland Revenue and other matters such as at least reminding Derek that the actuarial valuation was due.

Derek objected to this fee. I sent [a] letter dated 22nd August 2005. This is mainly of interest because it was also copied to Fairmount Trustee Services (Brown Shipley's Trustee company). Mr Johnson was therefore well aware of the issues surrounding the earlier fees despite his comments in the complaint.
Mr May's Death

Although a fee of £400 plus VAT might seem of minor significance, it was enough to stop everything. Apart from a few telephone calls from the Inland Revenue, which I redirected, to Derek May, nothing happened from then on until Derek's death in November 2007. I had been expressly instructed by Derek to do no more work and he had taken no further steps to replace me after my letter to him of 22nd August 2005.

The first I heard of his death was a telephone call from Charles Stanley who had been contacted by Mrs Irwin about the pension scheme holdings. They had directed her to contact me as the only remaining trustee.

I was then faced with a pension scheme that had now been dormant for more than three years. I knew nothing of what, if anything had happened in that time. Clearly under the new circumstances, doing nothing in accordance with my last instruction from Derek, was no longer an option.

The only thing I could do anything about was the shareholdings with Charles Stanley. As soon as I had confirmation that Derek was indeed dead I sold everything as quickly as possible. This reflected my then current view of the stockmarket at the time. In any event,
such an extreme investment decision could be justified anyway by the fact that the payment of the lump sum death benefit was, at least fairly, imminent.

In fact at the end of November when I sold all the holdings with Charles Stanley the FTSE 100 stood at around 6400 and that was a level it was never to see again. Subsequently it fell to 3530 and it has now recovered to just over 5,000. My decision to sell the shares quickly in fact saved the scheme an awful lot of money.

Before I consider my subsequent actions it is important to appreciate what I considered were the main issues.

The Loan & Tax 
The asset

The loan was as far as I was concerned the main issue. The loan with accrued interest was worth about £150,000 whereas the share portfolio was worth about £80,000 and some of that would be needed to deal with winding up the scheme. The shares had gone up sharply before the loan was made but had performed poorly since. The loan was therefore the main asset of the scheme and as trustee it was my duty to recover the money owed.
The tax

The tax position was not only not good, it was uncertain. If a loan is made on an arms length basis and subsequently treated in the same way there should be no tax consequences. The terms of the loan as regards interest rate and term were effectively set down by the Inland Revenue. It was expected for it to be commercially reasonable for the trustees to make the loan, and the trustees were expected to act as any other creditor when it came to collecting interest and capital when due. In practice the commercial reasonability test meant that if things went wrong, the Inland Revenue can challenge anything, treat the loan as a sham and retrospectively remove Approval.

Under the pre 2006 Rules

If the loan was made when there was little prospect of repayment the Revenue could withdraw Approval of the scheme then and make a 40% tax charge on the assets including the loan. Alternatively if the scheme failed to take proper action to collect interest due or obtain repayment of the capital when that was due, the Revenue could treat that as triggering the withdrawal of Approval. In practice, for this scheme, the Inland Revenue could have withdrawn Approval retrospectively from a selection of dates.
The exact amount of the tax charge would depend on the effective date of loss of Approval, but with interest and penalties, the charge would be more than the amount of the free assets of the scheme. The assets of the scheme could have been worth notionally £200,000 at the effective date of loss of Approval.
Under the Post 2006 Rules

Alternatively the Revenue could consider that as the original loan agreement ended in 2005, any continuing loan came under the post 2006 Rules. The tax consequences would be more complicated as it would generate tax charges on both the company and the scheme. In this case the tax would be charged on the loan whereas the loss of Approval charge would be based on the value of the scheme's total assets. However, the potential tax charge was still of the order of £60,000.
Personal Liability

Liability for any tax charge could fall on me as the trustee of the scheme. As the scheme is not a legal entity the tax liability like all other liabilities relating to the scheme is the personal liability of the trustee. The trustee can of course under the general law and the Trustee Act 2000 reimburse himself out of the assets. This presupposes that he has access to the assets.
Overall

I took the view that the Inland Revenue would be most likely to say that, as the loan was repayable in 2005 the exemption from the post A day regime for pre 2006 loans would not apply and use the new tax legislation. In view of the fact that these were legal issues and there was uncertainty I engaged solicitors (Wedlake Bell) to advise me as trustee on these matters. My solicitor shared my view on this issue. From Mr Johnston's comments he seems to take the view that the Revenue would most likely use the pre 2006 rules and might withdraw Approval retrospectively.

On either basis, there was a substantial risk that if the trustee failed to get the loan repaid; the potential tax charges could well wipe out the total assets of the scheme.

On the other hand if the loan could be recovered, most if not all those potential tax liabilities would disappear. Failing that, the best hope of avoiding the tax charges and retaining some assets in the scheme was to demonstrate that every effort had been made to recover the money owed. Options in this direction were limited due to lack of information and lack of response to letters.
Outstanding Tax Returns

All the tax returns after the ones I had completed back in 2004 remained outstanding. Neither Derek May nor his accountant had completed any.

Completing tax returns up to the time the shares were reregistered with Charles Stanley was going to be problematic. I had found that out the last time I did them. This time however Derek could not help with the data. For the period after the transfer to Charles Stanley of most of the assets, things would be much easier.
Before completing these I needed to know how I was going to deal with the loan in the tax returns. That meant that the loan issue had to be resolved first.
The assets

One of the other things I needed to do was check that I had all the scheme assets. This major exercise involved tracking through some very old holdings based on data supplied for the actuarial valuations by the previous accountants.

I discovered fairly early after Derek's death that not all shareholdings had been reregistered to Charles Stanley's Nominee account.

Although the sums involved would probably not be considered material by the Inland Revenue as far as these holding affected the tax returns, given the circumstances there was another issue.

The scheme had to be wound up. A trust exists while the trustee holds assets or rights to assets of monetary value. As trustee I would have to divest myself of all assets and rights to assets held in respect of the scheme, so I needed to know what they were.

There is no de minim[i]s provision in this, as Mr Johnston suggests in his comments.

In any event as trustee I had a legal duty to gain control of all the scheme assets (see Legal Issues). If that really did prove impossible I would have to find a way of divesting myself of them anyway.

I also needed to make sure that the sums involved were indeed small, as any discrepancy is a warning of something wrong. It needs to be investigated to make sure there are no additional problems of more significance.

The Beneficiary of the Death Benefits

Ms Irwin clearly believed that she was entitled to the death benefits as of right and wanted them to be paid as soon as possible. However, the payment of the Death Benefits was discretionary and Derek May had specified his previous girlfriend [Ms G] as the Nominated Beneficiary. If Mrs Irwin considered that she had a better claim I would need to establish independently that she did have a claim and it was better. She was not someone I had ever heard of before.

The only people I could talk to about this in the UK were the solicitor acting for Mrs Irwin on the probate and the accountant acting for the companies she ran as Executrix and beneficiary of the UK will.

I needed independent confirmation of her status, if at all possible. I had not seen Derek May since our last meeting on 29th October 2001 and that was one of only about three meetings after my initial appointment in 1993.

The class of potential beneficiaries of the death benefits is discussed below. Mrs Irwin was not a nominated beneficiary, nor was she a "relative" as defined so that the only category under which she could be a potential beneficiary was as a dependent of Mr May, which required financial dependency.
In any event negotiations needed to start on all the outstanding issues including the loan. In the event these discussions were never to take place, because Mrs Irwin and her advisors were not willing to hold them.

The initial period

I initially found it difficult to obtain information and make contact with the various people involved.

The first thing I did was to contact Paul Garside, Derek's accountant, to find out whom I had to deal with. His first reaction was surprise that I was still the trustee. He was decidedly antagonistic. He talked about the excessive fees I had charged Derek, although I do not think that he really knew much about the circumstances in which the fees issue had arisen. He told me that the money from the pension scheme was legally required to be paid to the estate, which was clearly incorrect. He did put me in contact with Brian Bacon at Thomson Snell and Passmore who was dealing with the probate of Derek's UK estate.

When I telephoned Mr Garside he made it fairly clear that I should not expect too much co-operation from him.

A further problem was that most of the scheme documentation had been sent to Fairmount Trustee Services as part of the abortive changeover of pensioneer trustees. I was having difficulty tracking down the copies I had retained of the scheme documentation. This was partly due to the way my involvement with the scheme had fizzled out in 2005 rather than reaching any proper conclusion. However, it was not needed for what I had to do immediately and would not be needed for some time. In the event I did track it down later and, in practice, it did not cause any delay.”
6. There was a client agreement between Ian McKeever & Co and Mr May. The agreement was signed by Mr McKeever on 29 December 1993 and by Mr May on 28 March 1994. 

7. Schedule 1 (Fees) to the agreement states that it is not envisaged that Ian McKeever & Co will provide investment advice, but, in the event that it is required, the company will be remunerated on the basis of time spent “at rate to be agreed at the time”. The schedule goes on to say,

“Fees are chargeable on the basis of time spent and are not dependent upon an investment being made or arranged ...”

8. Schedule 2 (Investment Objectives) to the agreement stated that the purpose of appointing Ian McKeever & Co was to “sort out a number of issues relating to the approval of the Small Self Administered Pension Scheme established by Signature Software and assist with the continued management of the fund”. It went on to state that,

“It is not intended that Ian McKeever & Co. will manage the funds as this will be done by Mr May himself. The purpose of this agreement letter is to comply with legislative requirements should the circumstances arise where investment advice needs to be given either to the trustees of the fund or to Mr May personally.”

9. Mr McKeever has confirmed that this is the only client agreement with Mr May and that there is no agreement relating specifically to his trusteeship.

10. In April 2008, Mr McKeever wrote to Mrs Irwin setting out his opinion as to the issue of the loan. In summary his view was:

·  as trustee, he had a duty to collect any debts due to the Scheme;

· if he failed to take action to collect the loan, it would constitute an unauthorised payment by the Scheme and attract a tax charge of 40%, which would wipe out a large part of the Scheme’s assets;

· the Company would also be liable for an unauthorised payment charge of 40%, together with a surcharge of 15%;

· the overall tax rate was 95%, although most of that was a Company liability;

· if the loan and the outstanding interest were repaid in full, there could still be a tax charge, but there was unlikely to be a surcharge because of the amounts involved;

· the tax rate would still be 40% for both Scheme and Company; an overall rate of 80%;

· the Scheme could sue the Company and put it into receivership;

· no further tax would apply because the Trustee would have exercised his rights under the loan agreement and the loan would become an investment of no value;

· it was unclear what HMRC would do in the circumstances;

· winding up the Company could be a long process and any sums paid out of the Scheme more than two years after Mr May’s death would be treated as unauthorised payments and attract a tax charge payable by the beneficiaries;

· in the circumstances, he, as Trustee, had no option but to sue the Company and he had instructed solicitors (Wedlake Bell) to write to the Company.

11. In July 2008, Brown Shipley advised Mrs Irwin that they estimated the cost of replacing Mr McKeever as trustee, updating the Scheme documentation, considering steps to recover the loan, valuing the assets and distributing the death benefit, and winding up the Scheme would amount to something in the region of £5,000.

12. Also in July 2008, solicitors acting for Mr McKeever (as trustee) served a statutory demand for the sum of £156,774.33 on Bishopstrade Limited. The company had 21 days to respond, after which Mr McKeever could present a winding-up petition.

13. In a letter to Mrs Irwin, dated 14 August 2008, Mr McKeever stated that the Scheme assets consisted of approximately £67,000 in cash, together with between £3,000 and £4,000 in shareholdings. He calculated that the outstanding loan, together with interest, amounted to £155,000 and that the tax charge on an unauthorised payment would be £62,000. This left £9,000 out of which fees and expenses would be paid. Mr McKeever said that, if the loan was repaid, there might be £226,000 in assets; out of which, a tax charge of £10,000 and fees of £9,000 would be payable, leaving £217,000 for distribution.

14. At the beginning of September 2008, Brown Shipley wrote to Mr McKeever on Mrs Irwin’s behalf. They questioned the level of some of the fees he had already charged to the Scheme in respect of work carried out to April 2008. However, Brown Shipley went on the say that Mrs Irwin was prepared to accept the invoices, provided that Mr McKeever did not charge any more fees, handed over relevant papers to them and cooperated in the handover of trusteeship and that his terms of business permitted him to charge in this way. Brown Shipley expressed the view that Mr McKeever’s charges for three letters and a one-hour telephone call (£1,500 plus VAT) was “not far short of what a lot of practitioners would charge in a year”.

15. FTS and Mrs Irwin were appointed as trustees of the Scheme and Mr McKeever was removed by Deed dated 19 September 2008. By now, Bishopstrade Limited had taken over as principal employer.
16. Brown Shipley wrote to Mr McKeever, on 10 October 2008 (having received the signed copies of the Deed of Appointment and Removal dated 19 September 2008 on 6 October 2008). A certified copy of the Deed was sent to Mr McKeever and to Wedlake Bell on 22 October 2008.

17. On 17 November 2008, Mr McKeever sent Brown Shipley a Deed of Indemnity, which he wanted FTS and Mrs Irwin to sign. He also asked that the cost of producing the Deed (£400 plus VAT) be met from the Scheme assets.

18. FTS declined to sign the Deed. Brown Shipley advised Mr McKeever of this and that the cost would not be met from the Scheme. They asked him to provide details of the Trustee bank accounts and his terms of engagement. In response, Mr McKeever said that he would be doing no more work on the Scheme until the Deed of Indemnity had been completed.

19. In response to further correspondence from Brown Shipley, Mr McKeever expressed the view that a “retired trustee has a well-established common law right to a lien over the trust assets in respect of actual, contingent and potential liabilities”.

20. In response to a further request for information from Brown Shipley, Mr McKeever submitted a letter for FTS and Mrs Irwin to sign undertaking not to “dispute or compromise in any way [his] right to control the scheme assets currently in [his] possession in exercise of [his] lien on the trust assets in respect of the potential liabilities arising during [his] period as a Trustee”. The undertaking was to remain in force until Mr McKeever was satisfied that all potential liabilities were discharged and he consented to transfer the assets to the new trustees. Mr McKeever also requested a cheque for £1,150 for the time he had spent on his letter, drafting the undertaking and collating and providing the information Brown Shipley had requested. Brown Shipley informed Mr McKeever that FTS and Mrs Irwin were prepared to pay the £1,150 to obtain the information they required from him, but would not sign the undertaking. They agreed that he was entitled to a non-possessory lien and referred him to Section 31 of the Trustee Act 2000 and to Clause 10 of Schedule B to the Trust Deed. Brown Shipley said that they would authorise Mr McKeever to deduct £1,150 from the Scheme assets he held on receipt of his confirmation that he would provide the information they required.

21. Clause 10 states:

 “The Trustees shall be entitled to all the indemnities conferred on trustees by law and no trustee or director employee or member of a body corporate comprising a Trustee for the time being shall be liable for any acts or omissions not due to its or his own wilful neglect or default and the Founder* shall keep the Trustees indemnified against the exercise of all the Trustees’ powers and the application of the Trustees’ discretion”

*Signature Software Limited.

22. In July 2009, Mr McKeever sent Brown Shipley an invoice for £5,750 for “Negotiations and associated correspondence and research concerning the transfer of trusteeship of the Pension Scheme”. He said he had paid it out of the funds he still held. Brown Shipley asked him to replace the funds because he did not have the authority to raise the invoice or settle it from the trustees’ account without their consent.
23. Clause 12 of Schedule B states:
“The Trustees shall be entitled to charge and be paid such remuneration for their services hereunder as may be agreed between them and the Founder”

24. From 2006, Bishopstrade Limited has been registered in Mauritius. In September 2009 Signature Software Limited (company number 01810981) was dissolved. In April 2010, Bishopstrade Limited (company number 02399008) was dissolved in the UK.

Mr McKeever’s Fees

25. The only formal agreement between Mr McKeever and Mr May is described above. In summary the position (already referred to in part above) is as follows.

26. In a letter to Brown Shipley dated 6 January 2009, Mr McKeever said that he currently charged on the basis of £250 per hour plus VAT, with a minimum of £400 a year when acting as trustee.

27. In a letter to Mrs Irwin, dated 14 August 2008, Mr McKeever said he had paid two invoices in respect of his own fees: one for £400 plus VAT (£475) and one for work to the end of April 2008 at £11,251 plus VAT (£13,219.93), which included his minimum fee for two years as Trustee. He had also paid £5,750 to solicitors on account and £100 to HMRC for the late filing of a tax return.

28. I have not seen an invoice for the £13,219.93, but Mr McKeever has provided a breakdown of the total sum charged.

29. Mr McKeever provided Brown Shipley with an invoice for his work for the period 15 May to 12 September 2008 for £7,175 plus VAT (£8,430.63), together with an invoice from Wedlake Bell for £9,020.26. Mr McKeever provided a breakdown of his fees which showed that he had charged for 28.7 hours at £250 per hour. On 17 November 2008, Mr McKeever requested payment of £400 plus VAT (£475) for the preparation of the deed of indemnity which he asked the new trustees to sign.

30. As noted above, in June 2009, the new trustees agreed to the payment of £1,150 for the provision of information about the scheme.

31. In July 2009, Mr McKeever raised an invoice for £5,750 for “Negotiations and associated correspondence and research concerning the transfer of trusteeship of the Pension Scheme”. He paid this out of the assets he still held at the time. Mr McKeever’s representative states that the £5,750 arose out of work done by Mr McKeever in attempting to negotiate a transition from him to the current trustees, including satisfactory indemnification “in relation to the tax issue which had yet to be resolved and potential claims”. It is argued that these were costs and expenses properly incurred as a result of Mr McKeever’s wish to ensure an orderly handover.
32. Mrs Irwin’s representatives argue that, if Mr McKeever is now required to reimburse the Scheme for any of his fees, any onward payment to Mrs Irwin is likely to incur a significant tax penalty and that this should be taken into account.

Appointment and Removal of Trustees
33. As relevant to appointment and removal of trustees, the Trust Deed dated 21 July 1994 contained the following.

“Pensioneer Trustee

7. One of the Trustees shall be a Pensioneer Trust and should that Trustee cease to be a Trustee or cease to be qualified to act as a pP3nsioneer Trustee the remaining Trustee or Trustees shall within thirty days notify the Board of Inland Revenue in writing and within sixty days appoint by Deed a successor who is a Pensioneer Trustee  The Trustees shall within thirty days of the appointment of the successor notify the Board of Inland revenue in writing of the name of the successor
Appointment of New Trustees

8. Subject to Cause 7 above: -

…

(b) Any Trustee upon giving three months notice to each of the other Trustees and each of the Employers may retire as a Trustee of the Scheme  Upon the expiry of the said three months the Trustee giving such notice shall be discharged from the trusts of the Scheme whether or not the Founder has appointed a replacement Trustee”

34. Section 36 of the Trustee Act 1925 is headed “Power of appointing new or additional trustees. “ Section 37 is headed “Supplemental provisions as to appointment of trustees” and section 37(1)(c) says:
“(c)
it shall not be obligatory, save as hereinafter provided, to appoint more than one new trustee where only one trustee was originally appointed, or to fill up the original number of trustees where more than two trustees were originally appointed, but, except where only one trustees was originally appointed, and a sole trustee when appointed will be able to give valid receipts for all capital money, a trustee shall not be discharged from his trust unless there will be either a trust corporation or at least two  persons  to act as trustees to perform the trust;”
35. Section 39 of the Trustee Act 1925 says:
“39
Retirement of trustee without a new appointment.

(1)
Where a trustee is desirous of being discharged from the trust, and after his discharge there will be either a trust corporation or at least two persons to act as trustees to perform the trust, then, if such trustee as aforesaid by deed declares that he is desirous of being discharged from the trust, and if his co-trustees and such other person, if any, as is empowered to appoint trustees, by deed consent to the discharge of the trustee, and to the vesting in the co-trustees alone of the trust property, the trustee desirous of being discharged shall be deemed to have retired from the trust, and shall, by the deed, be discharged therefrom under this Act, without any new trustee being appointed in his place.

(2)
Any assurance or thing requisite for vesting the trust property in the continuing trustees alone shall be executed or done.”
36. Section 69(2) says
“(2)
The powers conferred by this Act on trustees are in addition to the powers conferred by the instrument, if any, creating the trust, but those powers, unless otherwise stated, apply if and so far only as a contrary intention is not expressed in the instrument, if any, creating the trust, and have effect subject to the terms of that instrument.”

Finance Act 2004

37. Schedule 36 Part 4 Paragraph 38


Pre-commencement loans to sponsoring employers

38(1)
This paragraph applies to a loan if —
(a) the loan was made before 6th April 2006 by an occupational pension scheme which becomes a registered pension scheme on that date,
(b) had this Part had been in force and had the pension scheme been a registered pension scheme at the time when the loan was made, it would have been a loan to a sponsoring employer, and
(c) the date by which the total amount owing (including interest) must be paid is on or after 6th April 2006.
(2)
If on or after 6th April 2006 there is no alteration in the repayment terms, section 179 (authorised employer loan) does not apply in relation to the loan.
(3)
If on or after 6th April 2006 there is an alteration in the repayment terms, section 179 applies as if, on the date of the alteration, the pension scheme made a loan to the sponsoring employer of an amount equal to the amount owing (including interest) on that date.
(4)
The postponement of the date by which the total amount owing (including interest) must be paid is not an alteration in the repayment terms if —

(a) an amount is outstanding on the date by which the total amount owing should have been paid,


(b) the postponement is for a period not exceeding five years, and
(c) there has been no previous postponement on or after 6th April 2006.

38. Section 208

Unauthorised payments charge
(1)
A charge to income tax, to be known as the unauthorised payments charge, arises where an unauthorised payment is made by a registered pension scheme.
(2)
The person liable to the charge —


...
(c) in the case of an unauthorised employer payment, is the sponsoring employer to or in respect of whom the payment is made.
(3)
If more than one person is liable to the unauthorised payments charge in respect of an unauthorised payment, those persons are jointly and severally liable to the charge in respect of the payment.
(4)
A person is liable to the unauthorised payments charge whether or not—


(a) that person,
(b) any other person who is liable to the unauthorised payments charge, and


(c) the scheme administrator,
are resident, ordinarily resident or domiciled in the United Kingdom.

(5)
The rate of the charge is 40% in respect of the unauthorised payment.


...
(7)
An unauthorised payment may also be subject to —
(a) the unauthorised payments surcharge under section 209, and


(b) the scheme sanction charge under section 239.
Mr McKeever’s Response

39. Mr McKeever has made a helpfully very extensive response to the complaint, part of which is quoted from above. I have taken what he has said into account in full.

40. His main points are summarised below:

· he engaged solicitors because of the uncertainty;

· the best way to avoid the potential tax charge was to “demonstrate that every effort had been made to recover the money owed”;

· it was not until late in the process that it became apparent that there was no real likelihood of recovering the loan because Mrs Irwin and her advisers failed to provide information and accounts were filed late at Companies House;

· there were other potential tax charges, for example those arising under Section 239 of the Finance Act 2004, which were causing him concern;

· there were outstanding tax returns which he could not complete until he had dealt with the loan;

· as a trustee, he had a duty to gain control of all the Scheme’s assets and, therefore, he needed to know what these were;

· he found it difficult to obtain information;

· the Scheme documentation had been sent to FTS in anticipation of the transfer of trusteeship and he had difficulty obtaining copies;

· Deeks Evans and Thomas Snell & Passmore were not co-operative;

· he needed to verify Mrs Irwin’s status;

· in January 2008, at a meeting with Thomas Snell & Passmore, it was agreed that he would take his fees from the fund;

· he appointed a solicitor because he needed advice and to act as an “honest broker” because of the poor relations between the parties;

· Wedlake Bell had pensions experience and their fees were not excessive;

· he and Wedlake Bell take a different view to Brown Shipley as to the way HMRC would treat the loan;

· his letter of 29 April 2008 was not “alarmist”; explaining the interaction between tax on the Scheme and tax on the company would have made it more complicated;

· the only way to find out would have been to take the case to HMRC, but this would have been unwise if there were no proposals for dealing with the loan;

· Mrs Irwin is the owner of the company which owed the Scheme £150,000 and is making a complaint about something suffered as a result of the company owing money to the Scheme;

· Brown Shipley has complained about the cost of three letters sent on 29 April 2008, but these were the product of considerable discussion between him and his solicitors over a week and this time should be taken into account;

· the costs incurred were as high as they were because of an unwillingness on the part of Mrs Irwin and her advisers to engage with him or his advisers;

· clause 12 of the Trust Deed entitles trustees to be paid for their services as agreed between them and the Founder;

· a deed of indemnity is market standard practice to protect the position of a retired trustee;

· following his removal, he was not a trustee and no longer had the fiduciary obligations of a trustee;

· in view of the refusal by Mrs Irwin and Brown Shipley to provide an indemnity, he had no option but to exercise his lien over the trust assets and retain sufficient assets to cover the maximum potential size of any liabilities arising from his period of trusteeship; that right took precedence over the rights of any beneficiaries (Mr McKeever cites Lewin on Trusts 18 ed. para. 21-33);

· a trust is not a legal person and no action can be taken against it, only against the trustees as individuals;

· he has the right to be paid for providing information for the new trustees;

· he was concerned that FTS were attempting to undermine his lien so he raised an invoice and paid himself from the assets he had retained;

· the exoneration clause in the Trust Deed does not apply to his liability to third parties, such as HMRC, and protection for this liability needed an express indemnity and/or a lien;

· he could not resign as trustee because his resignation would have been legally ineffective under Section 37(1)(c) of the Trustee Act 1925;

· if he had resigned, the Scheme would have lost approval and he had signed an undertaking as a pensioneer trustee not to consent to any action that he considered “…infringes published Inland Revenue practice in relation to the approval and continued approval of the Scheme”.

41. As well as these points, Mr McKeever puts forward his view of the predicament he was in. He says,
“It has been clear from the very beginning that Mrs Irwin believed and continues to believe the pension fund was hers to do with as she pleased. As a trustee I was expected to write off a loan worth £150,000 based on a passing comment made by her accountant at a meeting in January 2008 without any hard figures or making further enquiries. I was then expected to pay the money in the fund to her without enquiring about whether she was in fact a suitable beneficiary given the terms of the trust deed and rules or considering the impact of the existence of a nominated beneficiary. I was expected to deal with the complex tax and other consequences out of my own pocket. I was expected to carry out a large amount of work without payment and simply to hand over the fund, notwithstanding that I might be exposed to personal liability for tax amounting to tens of thousands of pounds.”

…

“It seems clear that Mrs Irwin and [a Fairmount Trustee employee] planned to take over the scheme, pay the money to Mrs Irwin and leave any tax liabilities with me.

“It is clear that my replacement as trustee was an improper exercise of a fiduciary power by the company and therefore is probably void or voidable.”

42. It is argued, on Mr McKeever’s behalf, that Mrs Irwin is not an “actual or potential beneficiary of the scheme” and, therefore, may not bring a complaint to me. An actual or potential beneficiary, as defined in the Pension Schemes Act 1993, includes a member and Regulation 1A of the Personal and Occupational Pension Schemes (Pensions Ombudsman) Regulations 1996 (SI1996/2475) provides that an individual may be regarded as a member “if he or she is or has been entitled to the payment of benefits under it”. It is argued that Mrs Irwin was not entitled to receive benefits under the Scheme.
Conclusions

General observations
43. It has not been possible to give a real flavour of the unusual atmosphere of this case. A full reading of the files makes it apparent that Mr McKeever has held firmly to the moral high ground ever since he first experienced difficulties with Mr May. He maintained the same stance after Mr May’s death.
44. As I have said, Mrs Irwin’s claim on the death benefits is not part of this complaint. Nor is the status of the loan. But I should be clear that I have seen nothing that would lead me to think that Brown Shipley have entered into their trusteeship in anything other than good faith.

45. In my judgment, Mr McKeever unfortunately lost his sense of proportion in relation to his trusteeship of this Scheme. He has acted almost as if he is permanent sole guardian of the proper management of the scheme. Although he obviously had to act in accordance with his duties as a trustee while he was one, that did not mean that he could not have stood down if his position was untenable. Having eventually been removed, he has found it more than usually difficult to let go. And his concerns about what might happen after his resignation should not have been any more than concerns, having no responsibility once removed (other than conceivably to refer his concerns to any relevant authority).
Mrs Irvine’s capacity to make the complaint

46. Mr McKeever’s concerns that Mrs Irwin is not an appropriate recipient of the death benefit is not the subject of the complaint before me. Mr McKeever’s representative acknowledges that, unless a complaint were to be brought by a potential beneficiary against the current Trustees, I need not consider whether the current Trustees have correctly applied the rules in paying the benefit to Mrs Irwin. However, they then go on to say that the question of Mrs Irwin’s entitlement does fall to be addressed because it is key to the issue of whether I have jurisdiction. 

47. Mrs Irwin has become entitled to a benefit under the Scheme following a decision by the current Trustees that she was eligible to receive the benefit as a dependant and it should be paid.  I cannot go behind that.  As a matter of law Mrs Irwin has a valid entitlement unless it is successfully challenged as a question for determination in a forum with jurisdiction to determine it.  This is not such a forum because the finding that Mr McKeever would have me make would be in effect an impotent decision that she ought not to have been entitled to the benefit.  It would not deprive her of the entitlement.  As she had the entitlement, she may bring this complaint.

The Loan
48. I look first at the question of the loan. Under the loan agreement, the due date for payment was 31 March 2005. This date passed without either of the trustees taking any steps to recover the capital sum or the outstanding interest.

49. By this time, the relationship between Mr May and Mr McKeever had broken down. And by June or July 2005 Mr May had told Mr McKeever to do no more work. It was open to him, under the terms of the Trust Deed (clause 8(b)), to retire as trustee if he no longer felt that he wished to be responsible for the Scheme. Retirement under clause 8(b) would, three months from notice, have discharged Mr McKeever from the trusts relating to the Scheme regardless of whether a replacement was appointed. 
50. The provisions of the Trustee Act 1925 are expressly subject to contrary intention in the trust instrument, being in this case clause 8(b).  Section 37(2), which is in any event supplemental to the appointment of a trustee under the powers in the Act (which did not happen in this case), would not have prevented effective discharge.  Section 39 would, had there not been contrary provisions in clause 8(b) of the Trust deed, have expressly permitted resignation with a trust corporation as sole trustee.  So Mr McKeever was not prevented from retiring.
51. Nor need Mr McKeever have felt inhibited from retiring by the undertaking he says he had given not to consent to any action that he considered infringed Inland Revenue practice.  Leaving out that consenting to an action is plainly intended to deal with actions of third parties (typically the other trustees) and not to his own action in resigning, clause 7 contained clear provisions designed to shift the burden of making a new appointment and hence retaining Inland Revenue approval onto the remaining trustee (Mr May) if Mr McKeever did resign.

52. The matter of the loan became urgent when Mr May died and benefits fell to be paid from the Scheme. The outstanding loan and interest represented 69% of the Scheme assets (£155,000 of the £225,000 total assets, including £67,000 in cash and £3,000 in shares). I do not disagree that Mr McKeever had a responsibility to attempt to recover the outstanding sums. Nor do I find that it was unreasonable for him to seek legal advice when attempting to recover the outstanding sums. It is, however, open to question as to how much of the remaining Scheme assets it was reasonable for him to use in pursuing the loan and interest; particularly beyond a point at which he became aware that there was little likelihood of any recovery.

53. Mr McKeever has expressed concern that HMRC would view the loan and interest as unauthorised payments to the employer. I agree that the application of section 179 is not clear. Paragraph 38 of Schedule 36 Part 4 of the Finance Act 2004 certainly covers pre-commencement loans to employers where the due date is on or after 6 April 2006 and states that Section 179 will not apply. The due date for the Scheme loan was 31 March 2005 and, had matters been conducted properly, the question of Section 179 and/or Paragraph 38 would not have arisen. Paragraph 38 does cover loans where the date for payment has been postponed and, providing certain conditions are met, Section 179 would not apply. There was no formal postponement of the loan’s due date, but it could be argued that such a postponement had taken place and, therefore, Paragraph 38 could apply.

54. If, on the other hand, the loan was treated as an unauthorised payment to the employer, Section 208 makes it clear that it is the employer which is liable for the tax charge, not the trustee. Mr McKeever has referred me to Section 239 of the Finance Act, which deals with scheme sanction charges. A scheme sanction charge arises when “in any tax year” a scheme chargeable payment is made, which can include payments to members or employers. Section 239(2) provides that it is the scheme administrator who is liable for the charge.  After retiring he was not the administrator.
55. Mr McKeever has argued that he was forced to take steps to protect the lien he had against the Scheme assets in respect of future liabilities arising out of the uncertainty surrounding the loan. In particular, he has referred to the invoice he raised for £5,750 in July 2009, some ten months after he had been replaced as trustee. I note that the invoice, itself, refers to “negotiations and associated correspondence and research concerning the transfer of trusteeship”. I also note that Mr McKeever no longer claims that the £5,750 relates to any lien he might have had, but now claims that these were costs and expenses properly incurred by him in attempting to ensure an orderly handover.
56. I do not disagree that a trustee has a right of lien over trust assets in respect of liabilities, costs and expenses covered by his right of indemnity or that the trustee’s charge takes priority over the claims of the beneficiaries. This right of indemnity and lien is not lost when the trustee is replaced. A trustee’s right of indemnity affords protection to the trustee by entitling him to pay or reimburse himself out of the trust property in respect of personal liabilities which he incurs in the administration of the trust, but normally only where the liabilities are properly incurred. It is this last point that is the crux of the matter. Mr McKeever’s right of indemnity and/or lien could only extend so far as he could show that he had properly incurred a personal liability arising out of the administration of the trust/Scheme.

57. I find, therefore, that Mr McKeever was not entitled to remove £5,750 from the Scheme assets in July 2009. If, as he has sought to argue, he was exercising a lien against a possible future liability for a tax charge in respect of an unauthorised payment to the employer, there was no such tax charge. If, as he has also sought to argue, there was a risk of a tax charge arising on the withdrawal of approval, that potential liability arose out of actions he failed to take as trustee and was not properly incurred. If, as he has also sought to argue, these were costs relating to work undertaken by him, these were not costs or expenses arising out of the administration of the trust. Mr McKeever has argued that, as a former trustee, he no longer had a fiduciary responsibility towards the trust’s beneficiaries. That may well be the case, but it does not translate into a carte blanche to remove funds from the trust assets.

The fees

58. There remains the question of the fees Mr McKeever charged whilst he was still a trustee of the Scheme. The two invoices covering the period from November 2007 to September 2008 amounted to £21,650.56. There is no absolute benchmark against which a trustee’s fees can be measured. Nor did Mr McKeever have a client agreement covering his trusteeship against which his fees could be measured. I note, however, that this sum is in marked contrast to the £5,000 Brown Shipley quoted for winding-up the Scheme and settling the death benefits. I also note that it represents nearly a third of the available Scheme assets.

59. Mr McKeever has argued that he could not be expected to work for no fee and that the Scheme’s affairs were not in good order, resulting in considerable extra work on his part. I do not disagree with his first point. As a trustee, Mr McKeever was entitled to charge and be paid for his services “as may be agreed between [him] and [Signature Software Limited]” (clause 12 of the trust deed). He could also benefit from Section 31 of the Trustee Act 2000 and a wider right/indemnity for costs and expenses properly incurred. I find Mr McKeever’s second argument less attractive. In effect, he is saying that, having failed to administer the Scheme properly, he can then charge to put things right.

60. Mr McKeever was one of two trustees responsible for the proper administration of the Scheme in the years prior to Mr May’s death. I find it inexplicable that if the Scheme was so unsatisfactory, he did not simply resign. The Scheme might have lost its tax approved status, but that would have been no concern of his. I find that he should accept some responsibility for the poor state of the Scheme’s affairs. Even doubling Brown Shipley’s quote as a starting point, the additional work resulting from the trustees’ previous inaction amounts to around £11,650 of the fees charged by Mr McKeever over the period November 2007 to September 2008. I accept that Mr May had more control over the Scheme’s assets, but as I have said, Mr McKeever could have avoided that problem, and any problems in dealing with Mrs Irwin would not then have arisen. In view of this, I find that at least £5,000 of Mr McKeever’s fees arose out of a failure on his part to administer the Scheme properly and should not have been charged to the Scheme.

61. In summary, I find that Mr McKeever’s actions were not in keeping with his role as a professional trustee and that certain of his fees were not properly charged to the Scheme. I uphold Mrs Irwin’s complaint.
Directions

62. The consequence is that a direction should be made to restore moneys to the Scheme.  They would then be passed to Mrs Irwin as the sole beneficiary.  But there is a risk that a payment to Mrs Irwin made more than two years after Mr May’s death (as it would be) would be an unauthorised payment, with significant tax consequences.  Strictly the additional tax liability would be a consequence of Mr McKeever’s maladministration and he would be liable for it to the Scheme and Mrs Irwin.  But rather than direct him to make up for the tax as well, I will direct that he makes payment direct to Mrs Irwin as compensation, not as a benefit under the Scheme.
63. I direct that, within 21 days of the date of this determination, Mr McKeever shall pay Mrs Irwin £10,750 plus simple interest at the rate quoted for the time being by the reference banks. The interest period shall run from the date the fees in question were debited from the Scheme’s accounts to the date of payment.

TONY KING 

Pensions Ombudsman 

31 March 2011 
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